

Public Document Pack
Agenda
Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities

Time and Date
3.00 pm on Thursday, 10th October, 2019
Place
Diamond Room 2 - Council House

Public Business
1.

Apologies

2.

Declarations of Interest

3.

Minutes (Pages 3 - 10)
(a) To agree the minutes of the Cabinet Member (Policing and Equalities)
meeting held on 25 July, 2019
(b) Matters arising

4.

Keep the Godiva Festival Free for All (Pages 11 - 16)
To consider the above petition bearing 134 signatures, which has been
submitted by Councillor Ridley, a Woodlands Ward Councillor, who has been
invited to the meeting for the consideration of this item.

5.

The Coventry Award of Merit (Pages 17 - 22)
Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

6.

Equality Objectives Performance Report 2018/19 (Pages 23 - 42)
Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (People)

7.

Any Other Business
To consider any other items of business which the Cabinet Member decides to
take as a matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved.

Private Business
Nil
Martin Yardley, Executive Director, Place, Council House Coventry
Wednesday, 2 October 2019

Page 1

Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is
Lara Knight Tel: 024 7697 2642 Email: lara.knight@coventry.gov.uk
Membership:
Cabinet Member: Councillor A S Khan
Non-voting Deputy Cabinet Member: Councillor P Akhtar
Non-voting Shadow Cabinet Member: Councillor A Andrews

Please note: a hearing loop is available in the committee rooms
If you require a British Sign Language interpreter for this meeting
OR it you would like this information in another format or
language please contact us.
Lara Knight
Tel: 024 7697 2642
Email: lara.knight@coventry.gov.uk

Page 2

Public Document Pack

Agenda Item 3

Coventry City Council
Minutes of the Meeting of Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities held at
4.00 pm on Thursday, 25 July 2019
Present:
Members:

Councillor AS Khan (Cabinet Member)
Councillor P Akhtar (Deputy Cabinet Member)

Other Members:

Councillor B Gittins (substitute for Councillor K Sandhu)
Councillor M Lapsa
Councillor P Male

Employees (by Directorate):
Place:

P Bowman, G Carter, S Harriott, G Hood, L Knight

Apologies:

Councillor A Andrews
Councillor K Sandhu

Public Business
6.

Declarations of Interest
There were no disclosable pecuniary interests.

7.

Minutes
The minutes of the meeting held on 18th June 2019 were agreed and signed as a
true record.
There were no matters arising.

8.

Petition - Requesting a Review of the 10 Minute Observation Period in
Residents' Parking Schemes
The Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities considered a report of the Deputy
Chief Executive (Place) which responded to a petition requesting a review and
modifications to the 10 minute observation period for unauthorised parking within
residents parking schemes.
A petition bearing 53 signatures had been submitted by residents within the
Knights Templar Residents Parking Scheme, and supported by Councillor Lapsa,
a Westwood Ward Councillor. Mr Didcott, the petition organiser, and Councillor
Lapsa attended the meeting and spoke on behalf of petitioners. The petition read:
“This petition is to seek the Council’s review and modification of its ‘10 minute
grace period’ policy and approach to enforcement in all resident permit areas.
Currently, Civil Enforcement Officers (CEO’s) can only issue tickets for vehicles
–1–

Page 3

infringing the parking restrictions, after the vehicle has been observed (and details
recorded) parked in the restricted area for a period not less than 10 minutes,
during the restricted period. So, if a vehicle arrives 10 minutes after a Residential
Parking Permit Scheme has come into effect, a further 10 minutes is required
before a CEO can currently issue a ticket. This allows owners of vehicles
infringing the parking restrictions to drop children off and collect them, with
impunity. Many parents are aware of the 10 minute rule, and were notified of it by
CEO’s when the scheme first came into effect. As it stands, the 10 minute grace
period cannot be overridden by the officers, even though they are aware which
vehicle owners continually infringe the parking restrictions.
The 10 minute observation period is not a statutory observation period through the
TMA, but the Council’s policy and approach to enforcement in all residents permit
areas. The 10 minute grace period was intended to ensure residents and visitors
have sufficient time to display permits. However, permit holders are fully aware of
the restriction times and do not require additional time to apply permits to vehicles.
This statutory 10 minute grace period applied to Residents Parking Schemes is
inconsistent with the CEO policy governing parking bays in the City Centre,
whereby a ticket can be issued 10 minutes after the parking restriction comes into
effect, or 10 minutes after a parking meter ticket has expired – immediately upon
the CEO finding such a vehicle. In such cases, the CEO does not have to wait a
further 10 minutes from the time they first observe the vehicle infringement.
It is noted that under London Borough Council rules, no 10 minute grace period is
applied. CEO’s can issue tickets immediately upon finding vehicles parked in
Residential Parking Permit Schemes (via ANPR vehicles, etc) without application
of a 10 minute grace period. This petition is being submitted due to ongoing
issues with traffic congestion and parking enforcement problems on the Templars
Grange Estate. The issues are well known, and the Resident Permit Scheme has
been in place for approximately 15 months. The magnitude of traffic parking and
congestion problems on the estate, due to parents seeking to park as close as
possible to the Templars School pedestrian gate entrance, is still causing: significant safety concerns for pupils and other pedestrians using the side gate –
numerous traffic offences, that are currently unenforceable mainly due to the 10
minute grace period.”
The report indicated that there are currently 23 residents’ parking schemes in
Coventry. Knights Templar Residents Parking Scheme is one such scheme
located in Westwood Ward, which was implemented in August 2017 and
comprises Templar Way, Lomsey Close and Monksfield Close. The Scheme
consists of permit holders only parking and operates during Monday to Friday for
one hour in the morning between 8am and 9am and for one hour in the afternoon
between 3pm and 4pm. The rear access to Templar’s Primary School is located
within the area covered by the Scheme and many parents park within the area
when dropping off and collecting school children.
In August 2015, Parking Services adopted a practice where the CEO’s are
required to apply a 10 minute observation period when monitoring vehicles that
are unauthorised to park within residents’ parking schemes before issuing penalty
charge notices (PCN). The Adoption of the 10 minute observation period is
considered a pragmatic approach as it allows residents enough time to register
their visitors for a parking permit before any enforcement action is taken by

Page 4

–2–

officers. Furthermore, it enables parents the time to drop off or collect their
children from schools without fear of being penalised. It also helps to avoid any
criticism that the CEO’s are overzealous.
However, the petitioners living in the Knights Templar Scheme consider that the
10 minute observation period has resulted in traffic congestion, parking problems,
and road safety issues for school children and pedestrians during the drop off and
pick up times. The Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities noted that the
application of the 10 minute observation period in residents parking schemes has
not resulted in any similar issues elsewhere across the city where a school is
located within a resident parking zone.
The report also indicated that the Council is aware of other initiatives that have
been developed to address similar issues with ‘school gate’ parking, such as the
Solihull School Streets project. Through the scheme, most traffic has been
prohibited from entering selected roads leading to certain schools during drop of
and pick up periods. The intention being to create a safer more pleasant
environment which reduces congestion and improves air quality. The restrictions
include a prohibition of motor vehicles, applicable Monday to Friday during school
pick up and drop off times, with exemptions for permit holders. Permits are issued
to residents living on roads affected by the restriction.
RESOLVED that, the Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities:

9.

1.

Considered the content of the petition and notes the concerns of the
petitioners.

2.

Approves that Parking Services continue to apply a 10 minute
observation period when undertaking parking enforcement activities
within the Knights Templar Residents’ parking scheme and other
residents’ parking schemes throughout Coventry.

3.

Approve that Traffic Management colleagues consult with the Cabinet
Member for Policing and Equalities on the scheme operating in Solihull
Borough to control parking around schools during peak times.

Petition - Improve the footpath that runs adjacent to the Brookstray in Mount
Nod, between Fletchamstead Highway and Alderminster Rd
The Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities considered a report of the Deputy
Chief Executive (Place) which responded to a petition requesting that the City
Council improve the footpath that runs adjacent to the Brookstray in Mount Nod.
A petition bearing 89 signatures had been submitted by Councillor Male, a
Woodlands Ward Councillor, who attended the meeting and spoke on behalf of
petitioners. The petition read:
“I am raising this petition following contact from a number of residents who live in
Woodlands Ward who use the Brookstray footpath on a regular basis. Elderly
residents have reported difficulty walking on the uneven surface, parents with
pushchair’s have also highlighted difficulty and sadly on one occasion a
wheelchair user fell out of their chair. The Brookstray footpath is a well-used
–3–

Page 5

community resource and I want Mount Nod residents to be able to continue to
access the area safely.”
The report indicated that the footpath concerned is a hard-surfaced path on land
managed and maintained by the Council’s Streetscene and Greenspace Service
and runs adjacent to the Guphill Brook. The footpath is not a registered right of
way. The footpath is largely composed of old macadam, which is deteriorating in
places. The cross-fall of some existing sections of the path is irregular and the
path has several raised areas and ruts due to the effect of tree roots, periodic
flooding and general erosion.
Reductions in the budgets allocated to the management and maintenance of the
city’s parks and open spaces has increased the importance of prioritising
proposed works against competing demands. This has included budgets set aside
for the replacement and repair of greenspace infrastructure where demand far
exceeds the budget available.
Over the past three years, the Parks Service has identified and repaired 216
square meters of the footpath where particularly severe issued were identified.
These repairs were made with compacted road planings at a cost of £6,500. The
estimated cost to repair the equivalent area in Tarmac would have been around
£18,000. The main section of the footpath measures approximately 1,435 square
meters from the pedestrian underpass beneath the A45 to its junction with
Alderminster Road, excluding side paths. The cost to break out the existing
surface of the path and relay it in Tarmac to a standard suitable for occasional light
vehicle use would be approximately £119,000. If the same length and width of
path were to be resurfaced in Tarmac but only suitable for pedestrians it would
cost approximately £100,000. Relaying the path in self-binding gravel would cost
in excess of £86,000. The report indicated that none of these costs could be met
from existing resources.
RESOLVED that, the Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities:
1.

Considers the content of the petition and notes the petitioners
concerns.

2.

Notes that budgetary reduction has increased the emphasis on the
Parks Service to prioritise proposed works against competing demands
and that annual demand for such works far exceeds the budget
available.

3.

Notes that the cost of entirely resurfacing the footpath surface area
would be beyond the Council’s Parks Service budget.

4.

Agrees that the Park service will continue to inspect and undertake
repairs to maintain the path in a safe and usable condition and where
necessary, ensure the paths are levelled when repairs are carried out.

5.

Agrees that a prioritised programme of resurfacing will be undertaken
on a phased basis over a number of years subject to available funding.

Page 6

–4–

10.

Petition - War Memorial Park Ramp Renovation
The Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities considered a report of the Deputy
Chief Executive (Place) which responded to a petition requesting the Council to
renovate the War Memorial Skatepark.
A petition bearing 1,425 signatures had been submitted and supported by
Councillor Dr Sandhu, an Earlsdon Ward Councillor. Mrs Cowley-Haselden and
Miss Cowley-Haselden, the petition organisers and spoke on behalf of petitioners.
Councillor Dr Sandhu was unable to attend the meeting, but was represented by
Councillor Gittins, who spoke in support of the petition. The petition read:
“We are a campaign to renovate the War Memorial Skatepark as it is not fit for
purpose because of its age, lack of repair and limited size. In its current state it is
unsafe and cannot accommodate the number of skatepark users. Please support
us in trying to improve the skatepark; making it bigger and better for all of us on
wheels in Coventry (and beyond). We want a skatepark we can be proud of”.
The report indicated that the skatepark was constructed in 2000 at a cost of
approximately £100,000 and includes a half pipe, two quarter pipes, two jump
boxes, two 25-degree flat ramps and a grind rail. The facilities are inspected on
a weekly basis and repairs / replacements are undertaken as and when necessary
to maintain equipment and associated infrastructural features in a safe and
useable condition. In addition, an annual independent inspection is undertaken by
an external playground inspector. Recent inspections have found that whilst the
facility is nearing the end of its anticipated life, it is still within practicable use.
Some items are showing signs of wear and tear, with minor repairs required in
relation to the concrete elements. Inspections have confirmed that the skatepark
is in a safe and usable condition. It is recognised that the design and layout of the
facility is now somewhat dated and has limited appeal to the older youths as it is
not considered very challenging by modern skatepark standards.
The Cabinet Member noted that when external or internal inspections are
undertaken, consideration is also given to the serviceable life expectancy of the
facility, usually on an item by item basis, as not all equipment needs to be
replaced at the same time. In these cases, recommendations are made as to
what items should be considered for replacement or improvement and the works
are then included in the play area maintenance programme.
The report advised that during 2015/16, the Parks Service operational budget was
reduced by £1m from 2016. As part of its financial strategy, the service now
reviews the replacement of play equipment and youth provision, including
skateparks, as and when its practicable life ends. This review will be on an item
by item and site by site basis and will take into consideration cost, remaining
equipment / features and location to other similar facilities.

–5–

Page 7

A full refurbishment of this skatepark would cost approximately £150k to £200k to
complete. The Parks Service does not have the existing resources to undertake
this proposal, and do not consider this is necessary at this time as all the
equipment is still in a safe and usable condition and within practicable use. The
option to remove the skatepark has been considered. However, this would result
in the gradual further and overall reduction in skateboarding and overall youth
provision as the nearest other skareboarding facility is located at the Alan Higgs
Sports Centre, Allard Way, Coventry, and falls outside its catchment area.
Mrs Cowley-Haselden advised the Cabinet Member that the petitioners would
welcome the opportunity to work with the Council to try to identify other sources of
funding which could be used to renovate and extend the skatepark and that should
the required funding be achieved, to seek the Council’s support for required works
to be carried out.
RESOLVED that, the Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities:

11.

1.

Considered the content of the petition and notes the concerns of the
petitions.

2.

Notes that inspections of the skateboard park have identified that the
equipment is still within its practicable life.

3.

Notes that the skateboarding facility falls outside the catchment area of
the nearest other similar facility.

4.

Agrees that the skateboarding facility be retained and that features be
replaced as and when they reach the end of their practicable life and be
funded through a combination of external funding and existing budget
provision.

5.

Requests that officers work with the skateboarding group, and any
other group associated with it, to help identify other sources of funding
and if gained, look to replace the facility in advance of when it may
otherwise be replaced.

Annual Compliance Report - Regulatory & Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA)
2018
The Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities considered a report of the Deputy
Chief Executive (Place), which reported on the use for the Regulatory and
Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) 2018.
The report indicated that the Council uses powers under RIPA to support its core
functions for the purpose of prevention and detection of crime where an offence
may be punishable by a custodial sentence of 6 months or more or are related to
the underage sale of alcohol and tobacco. There are three powers available to
local authorities under RIPA: the acquisition and disclosure of communications
data; directed surveillance; and covert human intelligence sources.
The report detailed the procedures that local authorities must follow when applying
to use RIPA powers, including submitting applications to the Magistrates Court for

Page 8

–6–

approval. The Council’s Monitoring Officer maintains oversight of the RIPA
arrangements and is responsible for the integrity of the Council’s process for
managing the requirements under RIPA.
From 1 November, 2018 there is a new requirement to meet a serious crime
threshold for the acquisition of service or traffic data for Communications data.
This typically means that the offences under investigation could result in
imprisonment for more than 12 months.
Details of the applications that the Council has made under RIPA were detailed in
the report. For the period 1 January, 2018 to 31 December, 2018 two direct
surveillance applications were granted, and two authorisations were granted by
the Magistrates. The Committee noted that all of the requests covered core
functions permitted by the Act and were for the purpose of preventing and
detecting crime. There were no reported instances of the Council having misused
its powers under the Act. No applications for the disclosure of communications
data were made during the period.
The Cabinet Member noted that the report had been considered by the Audit and
Procurement Committee at its meeting on 25th March 2019. The Committee had
recommended to the Cabinet Member that he requests comparative information
with other Local Authorities in future reports and that the report also be referred to
the Licensing and Regulatory Committee.
In response to this request,
comparative data in relation to RIPA arrangements with other local authorities was
provided for the period referred to in the report.
Whilst the Cabinet Member agreed with the request for comparative data to be
provided in future reports, he declined the request to refer the report to the
Licensing and Regulatory Committee on the basis that there was no decision for
the Committee to take in relation to RIPA.
RESOLVED that, the Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities.

12.

1.

Notes the comments and recommendations from the Audit and
Procurement Committee.

2.

Approves the report as a formal record of the Council’s use and
compliance with RIPA.

Any Other Business
There were no other items of public business.

(Meeting closed at 5.25 pm)

–7–

Page 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



Agenda Item 4

Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities

Public report
Cabinet Member

10th October 2019

Name of Cabinet Member:
Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities – Councillor AS Khan
Director Approving Submission of the report:
Deputy Chief Executive (Place)
Ward(s) affected:
All Wards
Title: Petition Response – Keep the Godiva Festival Free for All
Is this a key decision?
No -

although the proposals affect more than two electoral wards, the impact is not expected to
be significant.

Executive Summary:
This report responds to a petition from February 2019 from Councillor Gary Ridley;
“As we approach our year as City of Culture the Godiva Festival should play a big part in
attracting visitors to the city, however that’s now at risk. The Council’s plan to charge people just
because they’re not from Coventry is divisive and unfair.
We’ve always welcomed visitors to the city of peace and reconciliation and they’ve made a huge
contribution to our economy. However, this plan punishes them at a time when we should be
opening our doors to the world.
So, we the undersigned believe the festival should remain free for everyone wherever they are
from. All are welcome in our city and we call on the Council to scrap this divisive visitor’s tax.”
To help meet the financial pressure of introducing ticketing at the Godiva Festival a £2
administration fee per person was introduced and applied to all visitors from within the City and
those who came from outside the city thus ensuring there was no disincentive for inbound
visitors.

Page 11

Recommendations:
The Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities is requested to:
1.

Consider the content of the petition and note the concerns of the petitioners.

2.

Authorise Officers continue to seek out the best value options for financing the Godiva
Festival, reflecting the need to balance attracting visitors from outside of the city with the
opportunity for residents to attend and the imperative to produce a balanced Godiva
budget.

List of Appendices included:
None
Background papers:
None
Other useful documents
None
Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?
No
Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or
other body?
No
Will this report go to Council?
No

Page 12

Page 3 onwards
Report title: Petition Response - Keep the Godiva Festival free for all
1.

Context (or background)

1.1

The Godiva Festival is a major undertaking and in the climate of reducing resources and
the need to introduce ticketing, a small charge of an administration fee was introduced to
enable the festival to go ahead. Charges were made at a very low level, to ensure they did
not create a barrier to attendance and they were applied to festival-goers regardless of
whether they were Coventry residents or visitors from out of town. Coventry continues to
warmly welcome visitors to the city and visitor feedback strongly supported the view that
the Godiva Festival offered value for money. The Godiva Festival continues to be one of
the Country’s largest and best value festivals of its type.

2.

Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1

For the 2019 festival, the Council wanted to see how introducing charging could contribute
to ensuring the festival has a sustainable future and piloted:
1
2
3

2.2

Introduction of an “Administration fee” of £2 per person for all Festival visitors
Introduction of a charge for on-site car parking
Introduction of merchandise retail line.

The attendance figures and sales are summarised below
Day
Friday 5th July
Saturday 6th
July
Sunday 7th July
Totals

2.3

Advance
Sales
12116
32178

Free Carer
Ticket
88
129

On the Day
Sales
856
3299

Total

26041
70335 (89.5%)

179
396 (0.5%)

3856
8011 (10%)

30076
78742

13060
35606

Comparison with previous years

2.3.1 The 2018 total of 115,000 visitors was derived from manual clicking-in of the audience,
including each time a single visitor left and returned to the festival site. The 2019 total of
78,742 is an accurate record of sales of individual tickets. In addition, around 2000 persons
were on site each day including staff and performers– comprising all the performers on all
the stages, school’s music, local bands and singer/songwriters, main stages talent,
security, bar staff, medics, crew, and ticket staff. The total number of people on-site over
the weekend was 84,742. Entry to the Festival was notionally free, albeit an administration
charge of £2 per person was levied. This applied to all Festival visitors regardless of their
home location and free entry was available to the carers of disabled visitors).
2.4

Festival Visitor Home Locations

2.4.1 The Festival attracts a mainly local and regional audience and the 2019 Festival attracted a
similar audience profile as in previous years. Thus the introduction of charging did not
reduce the appeal of the Festival for visitors from outside Coventry;

Page 13

CV 1-6 postcodes
Other CV postcodes
Other UK Postcodes
International

2018
54%
18%
26%
0.9%

2019
54%
20%
26%
-

(The discrepancy in 2018 is due to some surveys submitted without a postcode)
3.

Results of consultation undertaken

3.1

Godiva Festival visitors were surveyed on site at the event and remotely after the event.
Some of the results of the survey have been included in this report. Further analysis is
being prepared and will inform decisions for future years.

4.

Timetable for implementing this decision
The charges above were introduced for the 2019 Godiva Festival in May 2019. There is no
fixed timetable for Godiva Festival 2020 proposals at the current time.

5.

Comments from Director of Finance and Corporate Services

5.1

Financial implications
The City Council agreed a one-off resource of £379k for the 2019 Godiva festival. In 2020
no such resource has been identified whilst the Council considers options for future
editions of the festival. to maintain a festival of a similar size and quality of the 2019 event
would require a combination of increased income through charging, contributions and/or
subsidy.
Further work is ongoing to understand the financial implications of all options for Godiva
Festival 2020.

5.2

Legal implications
There are no legal implications arising from this report. The petition is being dealt with in
accordance with the Petition Procedure Rules which is set out in the Council’s Constitution.

6.

Other implications
Any other specific implications

6.1

How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)?
Godiva Festival is incorporated in the Cultural Strategy and its sustainability contributes to
reducing Council budget pressure. Increasing access to arts, sports and cultural
opportunities and promoting Coventry as a visitor destination and centre for arts and
culture sports and leisure; music and events are priorities of the Council plan.

6.2

How is risk being managed?
The risk of missing income target through sales is managed by regular milestone checks
and by aligning sales with marketing so that marketing can respond to the rate of sales.
Finance colleague’s involvement and risk register maintained.

Page 14

6.3

What is the impact on the organisation?
Introducing the income streams is also accompanied by the costs to implement the income
streams – from ticketing company personnel and facilities to the hardware and equipment
needed to maintain site security and safety. The costs of these are offset by the income. In
2019, the Council partnered with an external provider to operate the ticketed approach.
The result of ticketing the event was that public safety is improved for all festival goers,
contractors and CCC staff.

6.4

Equality and Consultation Analysis (ECA)
Equality Impact Assessment will be completed in line with proposals for Godiva 2020 in
due course. No timetable yet has been set.

6.5

Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment
None

6.6

Implications for partner organisations?
We are working closely with City of Culture Trust to align Godiva with the range of highprofile events and offers for 2021

Page 15

Report author(s):
Name and job title:
Jon Hogan
City Events Manager
Directorate:
Place
Tel and email contact:
07808 735374 Jon.hogan@coventry.gov.uk
Enquiries should be directed to the above person.
Contributor/approver
name
Contributors:
Lara Knight
Names of approvers for
submission: (officers and
members)
Finance: Phil Helm
Legal: Oluremi Aremu
Director: Andy Williams

Members: Cllr Abdul Salaam
Khan

Title

Directorate or
organisation

Date doc
sent out

Date response
received or
approved

Governance
Services Coordinator

Place

12/09/19

16/9/19

Finance
Manager
Major Projects
Lead Lawyer
Director of
Business
Investment &
Culture
Cabinet Member

Place

18/09/19

19/09/19

Place

18/09/19

29/09/19

Place

16/09/19

01/10/19

12/09/19

12/09/19

This report is published on the council's website:
www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings

Page 16


Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities
Council

Agenda Item 5

Public report
Cabinet Member Report
10 October, 2019
15 October, 2019

Name of Cabinet Member:
Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities – Councillor A S Khan
Director Approving Submission of the report:
Deputy Chief Executive (Place)
Ward(s) affected:
None
Title:
The Coventry Award of Merit
Is this a key decision?
No
Executive Summary
On 9 September, 2019, the City of Volgograd was nominated to receive the Coventry Award of
Merit. The nomination was considered by the Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities Coventry Award of Merit Advisory Panel. The Advisory Panel unanimously supported the
nomination. The Cabinet Member is requested to consider the nomination in light of the advice of
the Advisory Panel.
Recommendations:
1. That the Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities considers the advice from the Cabinet
Member for Policing and Equalities - Coventry Award of Merit Advisory Panel that the City of
Volgograd be granted the Coventry Award of Merit and, if considered appropriate,
recommends that the City Council grants the Coventry Award of Merit to the City of
Volgograd.
2. That the City Council considers the recommendation of the Cabinet Member for Policing and
Equalities and grants the Coventry Award of Merit to the City of Volgograd.

Page 17

Has it or will it be considered by Scrutiny?
No
Has it, or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or other
body?
Yes – The Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities Coventry Award of Merit Advisory Panel
Will this report go to Council?
Yes – 15 October, 2019

Page 18

Report title:
The Coventry Award of Merit
1.

Context (or background)

1.1 The Coventry Award of Merit was established by the City Council in the 1960s as a means of
acknowledging and honouring personal behaviour reflecting the highest ideals of citizenship
or outstanding performance in any field of human endeavour which enhances the good
name of Coventry and affords inspiration to its citizens.
The Award has previously taken the form of a citation under the common seal together with
a presentation of a gold medallion pendant from a ribbon in the City's colours. The motif on
the medallion is the phoenix, symbolising the resurgence of Coventry from the flames of the
Blitz.
1.2 The Advisory Panel is made up of the following members:


Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities, Councillor A S Khan (Chair)



Cabinet Member for Strategic Finance and Resources, Councillor J Mutton



Shadow Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities, Councillor A Andrews



Chair of Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee, Councillor R Brown, (or his representative)



The Lord Mayor, ex officio, Councillor L Bigham



The Council’s Honorary Recorder, His Honour Judge A Lockhart

1.3 The Advisory Panel were consulted following the receipt of a nomination for the City of
Volgograd and unanimously supported the granting of the Award. The Advisory Panel noted
that, whilst a City has never been granted the Award before, the long, historic and significant
relationship between the two Cities totally captures the spirt of the Award. This relationship
enhances Coventry’s renowned reputation as the City of peace and reconciliation.
1.4 The City of Volgograd has been twinned with Coventry for 75 years and, as one of the
original United Nations “International Peace Messenger Cities”, continues to work hard to
promote peace and understanding between nations. A copy of the nomination form is
attached as an Appendix to this report.
2.

Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1 The Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities is requested to consider the advice from the
Advisory Panel and make an appropriate recommendation to the City Council at their
meeting on 15 October, 2019.
3.

Results of consultation undertaken

3.1 The Coventry Award of Merit Advisory Panel were consulted on the nomination and the
Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities will consider the Panel’s advice in making his
recommendations to Council.
4.

Timetable for implementing this decision

4.1 The Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities will consider the recommendation from the
Coventry Award of Merit Advisory Panel and will then make a recommendation regarding the
award to the City Council at their meeting on 15 October, 2019.

Page 19

4.2 Should the Council approve the award on 15 October, 2019, suitable arrangements will be
made for an Awards Ceremony, to tie in with a visit to Coventry by a delegation from
Volgograd in November, 2019 to mark the 75th Anniversary of the Twinning. The award
would be presented to the Chairman of Volgograd City Administration, representing the City
of Volgograd.
5.

Comments from the Director of Finance and Corporate Services

5.1 Financial implications
If approved, as in previous years, the costs associated with the Ceremony and the Award will
met from within the existing budget of the Lord Mayor's Hospitality Budget.
5.2 Legal implications
There are no legal implications associated with this decision.
6.

Other implications

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council Plan?
One of the Council’s key priorities is to develop a strong sense of civic pride across the city.
These awards give recognition to individuals or organisations that have rendered
outstanding service to the city and promote civic pride.
6.2 How is risk being managed?
None identified.
6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?
These Awards enhance and promote the reputation of the Council and the City of Coventry
6.4 Equalities / EIA
There are no EIA implications
6.5 Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment
None.
6.6 Implications for partner organisations?
None.
Report author(s):
Name and job title:
Suzanne Bennett, Governance Services Co-ordinator
Directorate:
Place
Tel and email contact:
Tel: 02476 972299 Suzanne.bennett@coventry.gov.uk

Page 20

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.
Contributor/approver
name
Contributors:
Adrian West

Lara Knight
Jane Barlow
Julie Fairbrother
Names of approvers for
submission: (officers and
members)
Finance: Graham Clark
Legal: Julie Newman
Director: Barry Hastie

Deputy Chief Executive:
Martin Yardley
Members:

Title

Directorate or
organisation

Date doc
sent out

Members and
Election Team
Manager

Place

10/09/19

Governance
Services
Officer
Civic Office
Manager

10/09/19

11/09/19

10/09/19

11/09/19

24/09/19

24/09/19

Place

10/09/19

10/09/19

Place

10/09/19

19/09/19

Place

10/09/19

17/09/19

Place

24/09/19

26/09/19

Cabinet
Member for
Policing and
Equalities

24/09/19

24/09/19

Place

Communications People
Manager

Lead
Accountant,
Finance
City Solicitor
and Monitoring
Officer
Director of
Finance and
Corporate
Services
Deputy Chief
Executive,
Place
Councillor A S
Khan

Date response
received or
approved

This report is published on the Council's website:
www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings

Page 21

APPENDIX
Award of Merit Nomination
Volgograd
The friendship between Coventry and Volgograd was cemented as a result of both cities
experiencing the devastation of the Second World War.
Volgograd, formerly Stalingrad, was reduced to rubble in 1942 when it was subjected to one of
the largest and bloodiest battles in the history of warfare.
At the time of the onslaught, women from Coventry sent messages of hope to the women of
Stalingrad having experienced the Coventry Blitz just a few years earlier. The first message read
"From this city scarred and ravaged by the arch enemy of civilisation, our hearts go out to you,
who now face slaughter and suffering even more fearful".
During the devastating Battle of Stalingrad 900 Coventry women signed their names (which were
then embroidered) on a tablecloth which was sent with a message of sympathy to the women of
Stalingrad. This tablecloth has an honoured place in the Panorama Museum of the Battle of
Stalingrad.
The messages were followed by supplies and medicine and our friendship was made official 75
years ago when our two cities led the way in international twinning and we have been firm friends
ever since.
We are now recognised by the United Nations as the initiators of the international twinning
movement, a symbol of friendship and commonalty between two cities.
Over the last 75 years Volgograd have maintained links with Coventry and have kept in constant
contact with the City, visiting regularly and attending Remembrance Day Services and other
special commemorations.
As one of the original UN “International Peace Messenger Cities”, Volgograd continues to work
hard to promote peace and understanding between nations.
To thank the city and its citizens for all it does to promote peace and reconciliation, we hereby
nominate Volgograd for the Coventry Award of Merit and look forward to continuing our work
together.

Cllr Pervez Akhtar
Deputy Cabinet Member, Policing and & Equalities
9th September 2019

Page 22



Agenda Item 6
Public report
Cabinet Member Report

Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities

10 October 2019

Name of Cabinet Member:
Cabinet Member for Policing & Equalities- Councillor AS Khan
Director approving submission of the report:
Deputy Chief Executive (People)
Ward(s) affected:
All
Title:
Equalities Objectives Performance Report 2018/19
Is this a key decision?
No – although the proposals affect more than two electoral wards, the impact is not expected to
be significant
Executive summary:
On 14 July 2016, the Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities approved the equality
objectives for the Council as set out in appendix 1. The equality objectives are linked to the
Council Plan and are set for four years or until the next refresh of the Council Plan. The Cabinet
Member also agreed to receive an annual report on the progress made on the equality
objectives. This report provides information on the progress made with the equality objectives
from April 2018 to March 2019.
Recommendations:
The Cabinet Member is recommended to:
(1)
(2)
(3)

consider the progress made on the equality objectives at year end
consider the progress made on the development of revised equality objectives for 2020
consider ways of improving the diversity of the Council workforce

List of appendices included:
Appendix 1 – Council Equality Objectives 2016/2017
Appendix 2 – Coventry City Council Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Commitment
Background papers:
None

Page 23

Other useful documents:
Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties and Public Authorities) Regulations 2017
Equality Act 2010: specific duties to support the Equality Duty. What do I need to know? A quick
start guide for public sector organisations
http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/publications/equalities/equality-act-publications/equality-actguidance/specific-duties
Has it been or will it be considered by scrutiny?
Yes
Has it been or will it be considered by any other council committee, advisory panel or
other body?
No
Will this report go to Council?
No

Page 24
2

Report title: Equality Objectives Performance Report 2018/19
1.

Context (or background)

1.1.

On 14 July 2016, the Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities approved the equality
objectives as set out in appendix 1. These objectives are linked to the Council’s key
plans and strategies as set out in the Council Plan, and were set following consultation
with trade unions, employee groups and community groups. The equality objectives are
set for four years, or when the Council refreshes its Council Plan.

1.2.

The Cabinet Member has also agreed to receive an annual report on the progress made
against the equality objectives. This report provides information on the progress made
with the equality objectives from April 2018 to March 2019.

2.

Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1.

Progress at 2018/19 year end

2.2.

There are 15 equality objectives (attached at appendix 1). Progress towards the equality
objectives are measured through a variety of means including performance indicators,
comparators with other areas, contextual information and actions taken. Where possible,
indicators have been broken down by protected groups to ensure that all protected
characteristics under the Equality Act have been considered, monitored and reported
on. For example, improving educational outcomes is broken down into gender, SEN,
and race and by pupil premium.
Progress against each equality objective is set out below and linked to the appropriate
Council Plan theme.

Globally connected: promoting the growth of a sustainable Coventry economy
2.3.

Creating the infrastructure/city centre for the 21st century/Friargate: an accessible
workplace

2.3.1.

Aim: Create a modern, accessible, fit for purpose office environment and together with
the introduction of flexible working

2.3.2.

Progress: The new Council building in Friargate has been built with the intention of
“maximising access to all parts of the building, its facilities and services for people who
are visitors and members of staff regardless of disability; follow design guidance given in
relevant British Standards, and other currently published good practice detailing the
needs of disabled people where possible”1. In addition, the building incorporates a faith
room for all faith groups and a fully accessible shower as part of the hygiene suite in the
basement. There is also a wellbeing room which can be used by those needing a
hygienic environment for medical reasons; milk expression for new mothers; first aid
administration and other appropriate activities.

2.4.

Jobs for local people / reducing the impact of poverty

2.4.1.

Aim: Better quality jobs – resulting in more Coventry citizens earning the living wage,
less sickness absence in Coventry and improvements in productivity; and improving
the role of workplaces as health promoting environments, recognising the economic
value of a healthy workforce. Vulnerable people helped into work – resulting in a

Friargate Coventry Building C09 & Station Square Building Statement, November 2013
http://planning.coventry.gov.uk/portal/servlets/AttachmentShowServlet?ImageName=1097580
1

Page 25

3

greater proportion of people with mental health issues being in employment, more
migrants securing employment, employment services aligned to specific needs and a
narrowing of the earnings gap between residents and those who work but do not live in
the city.
2.4.2.

Progress– Earning the living wage: The Employer Hub service (based at the Job
Shop) works intensively with local businesses to help them recruit Coventry residents
who may be facing additional barriers to getting a job. This involves discussing the
quality of the job created, the salary and the terms/conditions. Over 392 jobs have been
promoted in the last year for local employers, aimed at ensuring the residents find it
easier to get these better-quality jobs. In addition, over 289 employer events have been
held at the Job Shop in the last year to encourage businesses to recruit locally and
promote ‘living wage and above’ jobs. The Employer Hub are also using the Ambition
employer funding initiative to aim for a minimum £9 living wage for all of its employers’
new vacancies by 2020.

2.4.3.

Progress – improving the role of workplaces as health promoting environments:
The Coventry and Warwickshire Year of Wellbeing 2019 programme is working to
inspire and empower people to make changes that will improve their wellbeing, and the
wellbeing of people around them. One of the key objectives is to support workplace
wellbeing. The programme is engaging with employers through a variety of means,
including speaking to local businesses to discover and share best practice in the ways in
which they support their employees. Work is also ongoing with the Coventry and
Warwickshire Growth Hub to communicate information and opportunities to extend
workplace wellbeing opportunities into private businesses.

2.4.4.

Progress - Vulnerable people helped into work – Coventry City Council is targeting
resources at addressing the productivity and skills gap and at helping people find work,
particularly groups who are struggling to do so. Last year the Job Shop supported 1,354
people into work (includes at Amazon) and 547 who identified as having a disability or
health barrier. 272 job starts were achieved for people using the Job Shop over 50 years
of age. 834 were achieved for black and minority ethnic (BAME) people using the Job
Shop. Through the grant funded support Coventry City Council provides to migrants in
the city, the Coventry Refugee and Migrant Centre has offered over 932 appointments to
nearly 338 Migrants coming into the city. This has involved making them more
employable including support with CV’s, applying for jobs as well as supporting people
into higher education. This has helped more than 60 people securing jobs and mostly
paid work experience opportunities in 2018-19.

2.4.5.

Coventry City Council is the lead partner on the six year long, £9m Ambition Coventry
youth programme delivered by a partnership of six organisations across the city, one
being the Job Shop. This is helping young people (age 16-29) who are not in education,
employment or training (NEET) find work, training or education. Ambition has enabled
Coventry City Council to engage and support 426 new people through the project this
year (July 2018 – June 2019). 196 of these are vulnerable young people and 120 are
BAME people. 181 people supported by Ambition have moved into positive destinations
(work, education or training) in this same period, of which 87 are vulnerable young
people and 53 BAME people.

2.4.6.

The council also leads on three other employment and skills projects; Exceed in
Coventry, ConnectMe and Routes to Ambition. The Job Shop is also a delivery partner
on these. The three projects work with different sections of the local population,
including women and BAME people. Support is focused on people who are out of work,
have disabilities or long-term health conditions, or are not in employment, education or
training (NEET) or at risk of becoming NEET without additional intervention. Under these

Page 26
4

three projects, between July 2018 and June 2019, Coventry City Council has been able
to engage and support 942 Coventry residents. Of these 648 are vulnerable people, and
656 BAME people. We have had 253 project beneficiaries going into a positive
destination in this period, with 171 of these vulnerable people and 116 BAME people.
2.4.7.

Marmot – employability support to address poverty - As a member of the Marmot
Steering Group the Employment and Skills Service have helped to facilitate a Task and
Finish Group around employment and poverty. The Group includes key partners
including Jobcentre Plus and a range of local employability support providers. The
Group has mapped what is already happening, raised the profile of the positive work
being undertaken and has started developing five programmes of activity to support
more unemployed or economically inactive local residents to move away from poverty.


Activity Programme One – Exploring possibilities around developing an Employer
Incentive to employ more people facing disadvantage in the labour market. This
may be in the form of support with Apprenticeships, Placements or other means
to assist local employers to offer a job to people within these groups.



Activity Programme Two – Look at increased support to people who are
struggling to pay debts, including Council Tax, in order to improve their financial
standing and ability to enter secure employment options. Also work to improve
take up of the Living Wage by Coventry employers.



Activity Programme Three – Support the ongoing work to adopt and expand the
‘Disability Confident’ model for Coventry employers, including Coventry City
Council.



Activity Programme Four – Develop and deliver a pilot scheme to explore better
linkage between support for people to address substance misuse and support to
get them into jobs.



Activity Programme Five – Organise and deliver a Connecting Employability
Support Network Event to improve network links and cross referrals between
employability support providers in Coventry who support those people facing the
most disadvantage in the labour market.

2.4.8

Ignite Programme - The Employment and Skills Service have been awarded additional
£160k central government (MCHLG) funding to develop and deliver enhanced
employability support for Coventry residents who are refugees and migrants. The new
service will link employment support delivered by the Job Shop with a new language
support programme (delivered by ACH) and the specialist employability support being
delivered via the Refugee and Migrant Centre, St Francis Church of Assisi and other
providers working with the MiFriendly Cities and Building Bridges Programmes. The
overall programme will be managed by the City Council’s Migration Team.

2.4.9

Adult Education Service - The Adult Education Service continues to actively promote
equality, diversity and inclusion; more than 80% of learning venues are located in the 30%
most deprived neighbourhoods in the City. Crèche provision is available at several
daytime venues to support learners who would otherwise not be able to access courses.
The Service’s fee strategy offers very substantial discounts and financial support to those
facing financial barriers. Good support is given to learners disclosing disabilities. The
Service provides large programmes in ESOL, English, maths and for learners with
learning difficulties and/or disabilities. Teaching is very effective in promoting equality,
diversity and inclusion. 49% of learners were from BAME groups which compares with
35% for Coventry population overall.

Page 27
5

Locally committed: improving the quality of life for Coventry people
2.5

Safer Communities

2.5.1

Aim - Making communities safer together with the police to reduce hate crime and
anti-social behaviour including hatred/prejudice towards a person because of their
actual/perceived protected characteristics of …disability, race/ethnicity,
sex/gender/transgender, sexual orientation, religion/belief, gypsy/traveller

2.5.2

Progress: The largest category (85.5%) of hate crime and non-crime incidents recorded
were related to the protected characteristic of race/ethnicity; followed by sexual
orientation (8.1%); disability (2.4%); sex/gender/transgender (1.9%) and religion (1.9%).
Incidents relating to disability or sex/gender/transgender saw an increase. Note that
these figures are by no means the full picture. Under-reporting makes it difficult to
quantify the prevalence of hate incidents and hate crime.

Hate crime and non-crime incidents in Coventry
Protected characteristic of…

2017/18

2018/19

415

400

39

38

5

11

27

9
9

Race/ethnicity
Sexual orientation
Disability

<

Religion/belief
Sex/gender/transgender

<

5

Not stated

<

5

<

5

2.5.3

The city’s new Hate Crime Strategy 2019-21 recognises that hate crime has a
devastating and often lasting effect on victims and their families. It divides our
communities; prevents people from living and enjoying their lives; and makes people
fearful to leave their homes, let their children play outside, or be who they are. Backed
by the Coventry Police and Crime Board, the strategy aims to: support victims,
witnesses and communities; reduce and prevent incidents and increase awareness and
reporting. It makes each partner accountable; and encourages a better understanding of
why certain groups are more reluctant to report hate crime, and to encourage all
communities to increase reporting. Community organisations been involved in
developing the strategy and are working collaboratively with the Council to develop an
action plan.

2.5.4

The Council works closely with local groups to encourage joint working and provides
support for funding bids that will challenge and counter extremism. These groups
represent a cross-section of the city’s diverse communities and working together helps
build trust and cooperation.

2.5.5

There are links between the equality objective to make communities safer together and
the government’s agenda around integration. In May 2018 the Council sent a formal
response to the Green Paper consultation on Integrated Communities and is considering
the adoption of a specific equality objective on integration as part of the process to
develop the Council’s next set of equality objectives.

Page 28
6

2.6

Improving educational outcomes

2.6.1

Aim: Improving educational outcomes by working with schools to continue to
improve standards including monitoring outcomes for key priority groups at the end of
Key Stage 2 and 4; reduction in fewer teenage pregnancies, and rates of offending in
young people and fewer young people who are not in education, employment or training.

2.6.2

Progress: Monitoring outcomes at key stage 2: In 2018, the key stage 2 expected
standard in reading, writing and maths improved by 4%-points to 62%. This is 1% above
the average for similar areas. All key priority groups have made positive progress apart
from Asian Chinese, White and Black African and White and Asian.
Key stage 2 expected standard in reading, writing & maths
Coventry average (62%)

Asian Indian
Asian Chinese
Irish
Asian Bangladeshi
Asian Pakistani
White Black African
Girls
White and Asian
Black Other
Any Other Mix
Black African
White
Boys
White and Black Caribbean
Pupil Premium
White Boys Pupil Premium
Transient
Black Caribbean
Traveller of Irish Heritage
Looked After Children
Special Educational Needs
Roma/Gypsy

77.6%
73.3%
73.3%
70.1%
64.3%
63.9%
63.2%
62.5%

49.0%
46.0%
38.5%
34.2%
33.3%
25.8%
18.6%
12.8%
0%

2.6.3

National average 64%

61.7%
60.3%
60.3%
60.0%
58.0%
57.5%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Progress: monitoring outcomes at key stage 4: At year 11, pupils narrowed the gap
with the national average. The city’s attainment 8 score improved from 42.8 to 43.3.
Positive progress was made across all key priority groups, including boys, pupil eligible
for pupil premium, White boys eligible for pupil premium, special educational needs,
looked after children, Black Other, Asian Pakistani, White and Black African, White,
White and Asian.
Attainment 8

18.2
15.6
0

10

31.7
28.9
25.1
20

30

42.1
41.4
41.1
40.7
38.9
37.6
37.0

40

51.2
48.0
45.9
45.5
44.5
44.0
43.6

58.1

National average 46.5

Asian Chinese
Asian Indian
Asian Bangladeshi
Girls
Asian Pakistani
Black African
White and Asian
Black Other
White Black African
White
Any Other Mixed Background
Boys
Black Caribbean
White and Black Caribbean
Pupil Premium
Transient
White Boys Pupil Premium
Special Educational Needs
Looked After Children
Roma Gypsy

Coventry average (43.3)

50

60

70

Page 29
7

2.6.4

Progress: Fewer teenage pregnancies - Coventry’s under 18 conception rate
continues to decrease from a high of 68.1 per 1,000 females aged 15-17 years in 2008
(the highest rate in the West Midlands) to 26.1 in 2017. The three-year moving average
data for under-16 conceptions is also demonstrating a downward trend. A range of
services are available to support the reduction in teenage pregnancy such as specialist
midwives working to support teenage parents to access contraception to avoid a further
conception. The new Early Intervention and Substance Misuse Service commenced in
August 2018 and has engaged 251 new children and young people between its
commencement and March 2019 and supported them to adopt healthier behaviours
associated with sexual health substance misuse and poor/coercive behaviours. 2,957
young people aged 15-24 accessed the C-card scheme in 2018/19 for contraception.

2.6.5

Progress: Lower rates of offending in young people: In 2018/19, there has been a
further reduction in first time entrants to the youth justice system (93, down from 126);
and reduction in the number of substantive offences (479, down from
582). However, many of the young people known to youth offending face
complex needs including mental health issues, poor educational attainment. and poor
school attendance – all of which will have an impact on their life chances.

2.6.6

Of the first-time entrants in 2018/19, 84.7% are male and 15.3% are female; this is an
increase in female representation from 2017/18. In terms of the overall gender ratios
(based on Youth Justice Board data), 23 out of a Coventry offending population of 155
were female (14.7%); this is an increase from 11% the previous year but still less than
the England proportions of 18.1%.

2.6.7

Progress: Fewer young people who are not in education, employment or training.
In January 2018, 380 (5.4%) of 16-to-17-year olds were either NEET or their activity was
not known. This is lower than the WMCA (7.1%), West Midlands (6.4%) and the England
(6.0%) figures and represent a decline of 1.5% points from January 2017.

2.7

Improving health and well-being

2.7.1

Aim: Building emotional resilience and improving mental health in young people
resulting in fewer young people in Coventry self-harming; improvement in educational
attainment; and less violence, drugs and alcohol abuse in young people.

2.7.2

Progress: Resulting in fewer young people in Coventry self-harming – The scope of
the Early Intervention and Substance Misuse Service commenced in August 2019 and
has been extended beyond secondary school children to primary school children to tackle
issues at an earlier age and prevent young people developing problems with substance
misuse, poor relationships and sexual health. Year to date figures show that 15% of
children accessing the service for individual support were aged 11 or under, so more
children are accessing the support they need at an earlier stage. Hospital admissions as
a result of self-harming in young people (age 10-24) continue to reduce in Coventry,
following a trend in the past 4 years and rates in Coventry are significantly lower than the
national average. The Rise service provides emotional well-being and mental health
services for children and young people who are registered with a Coventry or
Warwickshire GP. Rise aims to have an increased emphasis on prevention and early
intervention and integrate more effectively with other local services and schools. The
2016-19 Suicide Prevention Strategy will be refreshed, and the associated action plans
will align across Coventry and Warwickshire and with the NHS STP.

2.7.3

Progress: Improvement in educational outcomes and less violence, drugs and
alcohol abuse - The city’s family hubs help co-ordinate early intervention and support.
There are 8 Family Hubs across the city, serving local communities and focusing on

Page 30
8

delivering early help to children aged 0-19 (and up to 24 for young people with special
education needs (SEN) and their families. These hubs have brought together health
visitors, social care, midwives, police and others to identify families who may benefit from
some external help and put together a collaborative package of support. This will help to
ensure that families have access to the support they need, including addressing maternal
isolation, accessing activities to improve their children’s life chances and educational
attainment. Change Grow Live (CGL) provide a specialist service for young people
affected by substance misuse. The service supports young people who might be
experiencing difficulties and/or facing risks around sexual health, substance misuse and
difficult relationships with their peers. By intervening early and delivering supportive
interventions we intend to help young people identify their strengths and build their
resilience in the hope that they realise their full potential. The number of alcohol specific
admissions for under 18s per 100,000 has reduced from 45.5 in 12-13 to 35.5 – though
this is still higher than the regional and national rate.
2.8

Protecting the most vulnerable

2.8.1

Aim: improving services for people experiencing domestic violence and abuse
including monitoring domestic violence and abuse victims known to the police;
repeat victims of domestic violence and abuse and domestic incidents involving children.

2.8.2

Progress: A total of 6719 incidents were recorded in 2018/19, which is an increase of
16% on 2017/18. The increase in domestic abuse crimes (that is, all crimes with a marker
for domestic abuse) may be an indicator of increased confidence in police and partners to
address domestic abuse.

2.8.3

The Coventry Domestic Violence & Abuse Services (CDVASS) received 1464 referrals
last year. The majority (65%) of referrals were White British with smaller numbers of
referrals recorded across a broad range of ethnicity categories.

2.8.4

Following the launch of the Domestic Abuse Strategy in June 2018, the Council supported
the citywide ‘domestic abuse is everybody’s business’ campaign last Winter. In
recognition that workplaces can do more to support and protect employees facing
domestic abuse, colleagues wore orange and shared photos and messaging on social
media. Broadgate, Gosford Street, and West Orchards were also lit in orange to mark the
occasion.

2.8.5

Aim: Preventing homelessness and helping households accepted as statutorily
homeless

2.8.6

Progress: – In 2018/19 there were a total of 644 households accepted as statutorily
homeless. Whilst this is an increase from last year’s figure, it is reflective of national and
regional increases in the numbers of statutorily homeless over the same period. The
service has also been able to prevent 201 households from becoming homeless and
relieve the homelessness of 165 households. There were also a further 909 relief cases
who had approached the service as ‘homeless on the night’. Just under half (49%) of this
year’s statutorily homeless households had dependent children, a notable fall from last
year’s total (69%). Of these households the majority were female lone parents who made
up 60% of the total, an increase from 50% last year. In terms of ethnicity 58% of all
households were White, with the vast majority (73%) being White British. A further 8% of
households were Asian, and there has been an increase in the number of statutorily
homeless Black households compared to last year, with this year’s figure (25%) marking
an increase from last years (17%). 24% of households were aged under 25, with the
share of those aged between 25 and 64 marginally increasing from 72% last year to 75%
this year. Just 1% of households were over 65.

Page 31
9

Delivering our priorities with fewer resources
2.9

Make the most of our assets

2.9.1

Aim: Culture change developing flexible and efficient ways of working to meet the
needs of employees and the employer

2.9.2

Progress: The Council has had flexible working practices in place for many years. This
has focussed on providing employees with the opportunity to manage their work-life
balance through different ways of working whilst ensuring that we deliver quality
services to our citizens. The Council has rolled out agile working arrangements and
digital skills training to support this.

2.9.3

Aim: Confidence to report – create a culture in which employees and job applicants
are willing to provide equalities information for the workforce profile and so assist in
promoting inclusivity and increasing accessibility.

2.9.4

Progress: An Equality and Diversity action plan has been produced that contains
several actions related to the recording and reporting of equalities data. The data
categories used have been changed in line with best practice, and the facility for
employees to update their own equality information via MyEmployment has been
introduced. In addition to this, the text explaining why we ask for equality data has been
updated to promote completion. There has been no statistically significant change in
both the number and percentage of employees who have declared a disability. On-going
actions as part of an Equality, Diversity and Inclusion project are in place to increase the
number of employees declaring a disability.

2.9.5

Aim: Progression of black and minority ethnic (BME) employees and women
employees to consider barriers that prevent black and minority ethnic employees and
women progressing to higher grade posts.

2.9.6

Progress: BME representation has slightly fallen across the whole workforce and at
senior management level in comparison to 2018. However, when the number of staff
that we do not hold ethnicity records for (20.0%) is removed, BME representation has
remained the same at 17.9% this year, compared to 17.8% in 2018. Further work to
increase the number of BME staff at the Council is taking place, including actions related
to our employer brand and the implementation of recruitment & selection best practice.
There has been no statistically significant change in the percentage of BME colleagues
in Senior Management roles, with the number remaining the same as last year. BME
staff are significantly under-represented at Senior Management level. Various actions
are in place to attempt to redress this, but due to the relatively small number of posts
and turnover, it will be some time before a change can be seen.

2.9.7

There has been a slight decrease in the percentage of Female representation at Senior
Manager level, although the number remains the same. On-going actions as part of an
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion project are in place to identify and remove the barriers
in Female employees progressing within the organisation, as they are underrepresented at Senior Manager level in comparison to the workforce as a whole.

Page 32
10

Source

2018/19
Workforce
Profile
2017/18
Workforce
Profile
% of
Coventry
residents in
employment

Percentage
of BME
Council
employees

Percentage of
BME
representation
at Senior
Management
level (above
Grade 10)

Percentage
of Female
Council
employees

Percentage of
Female
representation
at Senior
Management
Level (above
Grade 10)

14.3%

6.4%

67.7%

47.4%

15.0%

6.7%

67.9%

49.3%

26% (BME)

47% (Female)

Active citizens: strong, involved communities
2.10

Aim: Customer Voice – Developing of the ‘Voice of the Customer Strategy’ and
embedding equality objectives within this.

2.10.1

Progress: Customer feedback is now included on all self-serve and telephone based
forms offering an opportunity for individuals to comment on their experience in regards
to the service offer and anyone who may have supported them. This information is used
to help to inform development plans and provide positive feedback for individuals who
support the customer and is analysed to understand the opportunities to improve
processes. The team who support this activity is relatively new and there will be
additional work required to understand how this information is shared more widely to
gain maximum benefit for the organisation.

2.10.2

Aim: Customer and Business Services Transformation putting the customer at the
heart of everything we are doing through Customer Journey Phase 2, by continuing to
introduce well designed online services; maintaining the high standard of face to face
services and continuing to improve other channels. There is a need to make sure that
online services are designed so that they are easy to access for the majority of people,
whilst improving other access channels for those who need them, including people with
protected characteristics relating to age and language spoken.

2.11

Progress: whilst recognising that not everyone is digitally able there has been an
increase in the transactions online from last year (2017/18) to this year (2018/19). This
has increased from 33% of customer contact being online or self-service to 35%

2.12

On-line forms are designed to enable individuals to undertake transactions at a time and
place to suit them. The process of developing them incorporates a review to confirm that
they are written in plain English so are easy to understand and to ensure that they are
simple to use requiring only essential information to complete. In addition, the face to
face service offer all individuals the support they require to access services. Support
may be in the form of interpretation access or in helping people to familiarise themselves
with technology and supporting them to access on-line services. Basic signing courses
are being scheduled for those people who undertake the Meet & Greet roles.

Page 33
11

2.13

The organisation is in the process of reviewing it’s digital offer and determining a
programme of activity to increase the self-service possibilities. As part of this work we
will consider how we ensure that all residents are able to access services

2.14

Aim: Create an accessible democratic civic centre to enable councillors, employees
and residents to take part in Council business resulting in more residents taking part in
democratic processes.

2.14.1

Progress: Accessibility was a key design challenge given the location of the new
committee rooms and the listed nature of the Council House. Openings were enlarged
as much as possible; a new stair lift installed and the furniture and audio-visual systems
are designed / laid-out in a way that promotes inclusivity. Audio visual systems in the
existing Diamond rooms have also now been upgraded.

2.15

Summary of progress 2018/19

2.15.1

In summary, from this report it can be seen that there are many examples of positive
work to improve outcomes for protected groups; in relation to employment, the Council
is leading on various projects to help vulnerable people into work – including young
people, BME people, disabled people and migrants. This work has also been supported
by the Marmot Task & Finish Group on employment and poverty. Other notable
performance headlines from the last year include positive progress in education across
all priority groups at key stage 4, as well as reductions in teenage pregnancies, first time
entrants to the youth justice system and the number of young people self-harming.
There has, however, been an increase in the number of domestic violence incidents
recorded and also an increase in the number of households accepted as statutorily
homeless (including Black households and female lone parents).

2.16

Development of new equality objectives 2020

2.16.1

The Public Sector Equality Duty requires the Council, as a listed public authority, to
publish equality objectives that it thinks it needs to achieve to further any of the aims of
the general equality duty. The existing set of equality objectives were set in 2016 for a
period of four years; work is therefore being undertaken to develop a draft set of revised
objectives which will become operational in 2020.

2.16.2

The Council’s One Coventry programme provides an opportunity to refresh our
approach on this, to ensure that equality objectives for the future are clearly aligned to
both Council plan priorities and the outcomes that we want to be achieved through
delivery of these.

2.16.3

Following some early engagement in early 2019, formal consultation on the revised set
of equality objectives is planned for the autumn of 2019, with final approval scheduled
for early 2020.

3

Ways of improving the diversity of the workforce

3.1

The Council has agreed a number of key priorities underpinned by a comprehensive
action plan which will support the organisational aim to have a workforce which better
reflects the communities it serves. We have commissioned the services of Diversity by
Design to work alongside the Council’s recruitment team with a view to piloting a project
which will review the way in which the Council approaches the recruitment and selection
of employees, as part of the programme will be the anonymising of the selection process.
Other measures include mentorship schemes, work experience, joint work with the Job
Shop to support potential candidates as well as targeted recruitment campaigns. During

Page 34
12

2019 the Council launched an Inclusive Leadership Pledge which sets out the action that
the Council will take to ensure that the extended corporate leadership team also reflects
the communities that it serves.
4

Results of consultation undertaken

3.1

As this is a performance report on the equality objectives that were agreed for 2016/17,
there have been no requirements to consult on this year-end report. However, the report
has been shared with Trade Union representatives.

4.

Timetable for implementing this decision

4.1

As this is a performance report on the equality objectives, there is no decision to
implement.

5

Comments from Director of Finance and Corporate Services

5.1

Financial implications
The cost for setting and monitoring equality objectives and delivering equality objectives
will be met from within existing resources.

5.2

Legal implications
This report recommends approval for considering progress against equality objectives
as required under the Equality Act (Specific Duties and Public Authorities) Regulations
2017.

6

Other implications

6.1

How will this contribute to achievement of the Council’s Plan
(www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)
The achievement of the equality objectives will be managed in accordance the Council’s
performance management framework. https://smarturl.it/PMF

6.2

How is risk being managed?
The performance management of the equality objectives will help the Council to manage
risk by systematically measuring progress in relation to the equality objectives. This
means that areas where good progress is being made can be identified, as well as those
areas where progress is not as expected and where corrective action may be needed.

6.3

What is the impact on the organisation?
Achieving progress against the equality objectives impacts on the whole organisation.
All Council employees have a duty to pay due regards to the three aims of the Equality
Act.

6.4

Equalities and Consultation Analysis
The process outlined in this report will enable the Council to comply with its obligations
under the Equality Act (Specific Duties and Public Authorities) Regulations 2017.

Page 35
13

6.5

Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment
None identified.

6.6

Implications for partner organisations?
By making equality information easily accessible for local residents, it will also make it
easier for partner agencies to obtain equalities information and will prevent the
duplication of information gathering. Many of the Council’s objectives are delivered
through partnership working which means that there will be implications for partner
organisations.

Report author(s):
Name and job title: Jaspal Mann, Equality & Diversity Officer
Directorate: People
Tel and email contact: 024 7697 7109
Enquiries should be directed to the above person.
Contributor/approver
name
Contributors:
Lara Knight
Helen Shankster
Si Chun Lam
Wendy Ohandjanian
Liz Gaulton
Valerie De-Souza
Hannah Watts
Adrienne Bellingeri
David Kersey
Sunairah Miraj
Ross Mudie
David Woodhouse

Title

Directorate or
organisation

Date doc
sent out

Date response
received or
approved

Governance
Services Coordinator
Insight Manager
(Engagement)
Insight
Development
Manager
Equality &
Diversity Officer
Director Public
Health
Public Health
Consultant
Public Health
Inequalities
Head of
Customer
Service
Employment
Development
Manager
Programme
Delivery Manger
- Migration
Planning and
Housing Policy
Assistant
Lead
Performance
Analyst

Place

05.09.19

09.09.19

People

01.09.19

05.09.19

People

05.09.19

05.09.19

People

05.09.19

05.09.19

People

05.09.19

06.09.19

People

05.09.19

06.09.19

People

06.08.19

13.08.19

People

06.08.19

13.08.19

Place

06.08.19

15.08.19

Place

06.08.19

07.08.19

Place

06.08.19

15.08.19

People

06.08.19

28.08.19

Page 36
14

Joanne Smith

Snr
People
Commissioning
Manager Children
Andy Hyland
Organisational
People
Development
Grace Haynes
Head of
People
Workforce
Transformation
Names of approvers for submission: (officers and members)
Barry Hastie
Director of
Place
Finance and
Corporate
Services
Legal: Julie Newman
Legal Services
Place
Manager
Director: Gail Quinton
Deputy Chief
People
Executive
Members: Cllr Abdul Khan
Cabinet Member for Policing &
Equalities

06.08.19

15.08.19

06.08.19

06.08.19

06.08.19

06.08.19

05.09.19

05.09.19

09.09.19

05.09.19

27.09.19

05.09.19

12.09.19

This report is published on the council’s website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings

Page 37
15

Appendix 1

Council’s Equality Objectives 2016/17
To be delivered by getting networks more actively involved in working alongside the
Council and its partners to deliver objectives.
In 2016/17, the Council is focusing on a smaller small set of equality objectives which link
to the Council’s key plans and strategies:
Globally connected: promoting the growth of a sustainable Coventry economy


Creating the infrastructure/city centre for the 21st century
 Friargate: an accessible workplace - Create a modern, accessible, fit for
purpose office environment and together with the introduction of flexible working
practices, improve productivity and staff behaviour.



Jobs for local people/reducing the impact of poverty
 Better quality jobs – resulting in more Coventry citizens earning the living wage,
less sickness absence in Coventry and improvements in productivity; and
improving the role of workplaces as health promoting environments,
recognising the economic value of a health workforce.
 Vulnerable people helped into work – resulting in a greater proportion of people
with mental health issues being in employment, more migrants securing
employment, employment services aligned to specific needs and a narrowing of
the earnings gap between residents and those who work but do not live in the city.

Locally committed: improving the quality of life for Coventry people


Safer communities
 Making communities safer together with the police to reduce hate crime and
anti-social behaviour including hatred/prejudice towards a person because of
their actual/perceived protected characteristic of…disability, race/ethnicity,
sex/gender/transgender, sexual orientation, religion/belief, gypsy/traveller.



Improving educational outcomes
 Improving educational outcomes by working with schools to continue to
improve standards, including monitoring outcomes for key priority groups at the
end of Key Stage 2 and 4; resulting in fewer teenage pregnancies, lower rates of
offending in young people and fewer young people who are not in education,
employment or training.



Improving health and wellbeing
 Building emotional resilience and improving mental health in young people
resulting in fewer young people in Coventry self-harming; improvements in
educational attainment, and less violence, drug and alcohol abuse in young
people.



Protecting the most vulnerable
 Improving services for people experiencing domestic violence and abuse,
including monitoring domestic violence and abuse victims known to the police;

Page 38
16



repeat victims of domestic abuse; and domestic violence incidents involving
children.
Preventing homelessness and helping households accepted as statutorily
homeless including monitoring households accepted as statutory homeless and
homelessness cases prevented.



Delivering our priorities with fewer resources



Making the most of our assets
 Culture change: develop flexible and efficient ways of working to meet the needs
of employees and the employer.
 Confidence to report: create a culture in which employees and job applicants are
willing to provide equalities information for the workforce profile and so assist in
promoting inclusivity and increasing accessibility.
 Progression (gender): to consider the representation of women within different
pay grades and to understand if there are any barriers to progression to higher
grade posts.
 Progression (BME): to consider barriers that prevent Black and Minority Ethnic
employees progressing within the organisation.



Active citizens; strong, involved communities
 Customer voice: Developing of the ‘Voice of the Customer Strategy’ and
embedding equality objectives within this.
 Customer journey: Putting the customer at the heart of everything we are doing
through Customer Journey Phase 2 by continuing to introduce well designed online
services, maintaining the high standard of face to face services and continuing to improve
other access channels. There is a need to make sure that online services are designed so
that they are easy to access for the majority of people, whilst improving other access
channels for those who need them.



Create an accessible democratic civic centre to enable councillors, employees
and residents to take part in Council business resulting in more residents taking
part in democratic processes.

Find out more
 Council Plan: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/
 Information and statistics: www.coventry.gov.uk/infoandstats/
 Equality and diversity: www.coventry.gov.uk/equality/

Page 39
17

Appendix 2
Coventry City Council
Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Commitment
Coventry City Council is committed to:


Its continuing duty as a public authority and will have due regard to the need to
eliminate discrimination, harassment, and any other conduct prohibited under the
Equality Act 2010.



Recognising and celebrating diversity, and ensuring equality of opportunity both
as a provider and commissioner of services and as a large employer

 Developing a culture that embeds the effective management of equality, diversity
and inclusion in our day-to-day practices, policies, procedures, and through our
external relationships
Coventry City Council recognises that people still experience inequality because of their
background. The Council will therefore lead by example and not tolerate discrimination,
harassment and victimisation on the grounds of:


Age, disability, gender reassignment, marital and civil partnership, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

This commitment is supported by and has been developed with employees, members
and our trade union colleagues.
Putting Communities first
The Council is committed to:


Working with partner organisations and citizens to find out what is important to
communities and working together to make a difference on issues and priorities
that matter most



Fostering good relations between different groups and communities to build and
maintain strong social networks and opportunities for greater cohesion



Informing, consulting and involving a wide range of people including employees
and stakeholders about decisions which affect them so that they can influence
policies and practices



Ensuring that people from different backgrounds are able to fully participate in
consultation and involvement activities

Page 40
18

Service Delivery / Provision
The Council is committed to promoting equality of opportunity in our service delivery by:


Providing accessible information about the services available



Taking into account the equality impacts of the decisions we make and seek to
mitigate any adverse impacts where possible



Delivering services in ways which are appropriate to citizen needs and, whenever
possible, removing barriers which may deny access



Taking steps to ensure that organisations providing services on our behalf operate
in accordance with the aims of this commitment

Employment
The Council is committed to promoting equality of opportunity in employment by:


Monitoring the composition of its workforce and taking positive action to redress
inequalities



Recruiting and retaining a workforce, at all levels, with the aspiration that it reflects
the city’s diverse communities and the people we serve



Providing appropriate training and guidance to all staff to develop the aims of this
commitment



Investigating any instances of breaches of this commitment or relevant policies
following the applicable procedures

Implementation
To ensure the effectiveness of this commitment, the Council will:


Set equality objectives and monitor progress against them – these set out more
detail on current priorities for action and can be read here:
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/132/equality_and_diversity/1272/equality_and_div
ersity/2



Continue to consider equal opportunities implications on as part of decision making

Page 41
19

Accountability
All employees of the Council are accountable and responsible for taking steps to promote
our equality, diversity and inclusion commitment in their day to day work.
This commitment will underpin and support our workforce strategy and will be integrated
within our policies and practices.
This commitment will be reviewed jointly by senior leaders, employees and our trade union
colleagues on a regular basis.

Page 42
20

